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Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

The directors present their strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2023.  

Principal activity and future developments 

The principal activity of the company is the provision of cash in transit security and ATM maintenance services. 
The directors propose to continue the same activity next year. 

Results and dividends 

The company’s loss for the financial year is £5,108,000 (2022: £5,962,000). During the year no dividend (2022: 
£-) was paid to Loomis Holding UK Limited. 

The company had restructuring expenses of £941,000 during the year (2022: £-).  These costs related to the 
closure of the Nottingham Transport branch and internal restructure costs relating to head office employees. 

Business review  

During 2023 the company saw turnover increase from £72.0m to £73.7m.  Cash volumes have stabilised since 
the easing of COVID-19 restrictions, however levels remain lower than pre-pandemic volumes due to permanent 
shifts to on-line retail and contactless pay methods and the general structural decline of cash usage in the UK. 

The staff shortages experienced by the company, and other industries in the UK during 2022 have been resolved.  
During 2023 the company operated with optimum operational staffing levels.  A restructure of the head office 
function staff led to synergies across teams and an overall reduction in non-operational staff during Q4 2023.  The 
company also disposed of its Nottingham Transport branch and achieved further synergies by optimising routes 
at other local branches.  A provision of £941,000 for the cost associated with these restructures was booked 
during the financial year, with £918,000 being utilised during the same period. 

As is similar with the rest of the UK, Loomis UK Limited has faced increased inflationary pressures during 2023.  
Employee, fuel and utility costs have all risen.  Whilst the company has contracts in place which mitigate some of 
the impact of the price rises, Loomis UK Limited has had to absorb some costs over the short-term, leading to a 
rise in cost of sales.  

During the year the company embarked on a programme of renewing its fleet of vehicles which will stretch into 
2024.  In order to fund the replacement of the end-of-life existing fleet, the company has entered into a series of 
finance leases with the duration of each tranche of financing lasting for 6 years, which aligns with the expected 
useful life of the vehicles.     

Although Loomis UK Limited receives its funding from its parent company, Loomis AB.  It has still been subject to 
increased costs of funding driven by rising interest rates.  The funding received from Loomis AB is subject to 
transfer pricing charges.  The increase in interest rates and transfer pricing charges have driven the year-on-year 
increase in finance expenses.   Average interest rates for the year have increased to 11.158% on long term loan 
borrowing (2022: 2.54%) and 10.26% on overdraft borrowing (2022: 5.46%).  

In order to reduce the company’s finance expenses on 29 June 2023 Loomis UK Limited issued 40,169 £100 
ordinary shares to its parent company Loomis Holding UK Limited at a premium of £86.71 per share.   The total 
funds raised from the issuance was £7,499,954.  These funds were used to reduce borrowing levels. 

On 3 July 2023 the new shares issued were subject to a capital reduction exercise for the same value of 
£7,499,954, which was credited to the profit and loss reserve. 

Future outlook 

The directors will continue to manage and monitor the business going forward to ensure the goals of the ultimate 
parent are reached.  

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Directors regularly perform a risk assessment process to identify the key risks which could materially impact 
the Company’s strategy, reputation, business, assets and profitability. The key risks identified are listed below: 
 
Changes in market environment 

Changes in cash usage trends within the UK market through the development of new technology, changes in 
consumer behaviour and high street retail trends could impact the Company’s strategy and profitability.  The 
company recognises that this is the most significant risk it faces.  The Loomis group continues to investigate 
alternative revenues streams outside of the cash in transit line of business, with a focus on complementary 
products that will enhance its cash in transit offering.  Opportunities exist to further promote and grow the 
Loomis Safepoint offering to existing and new customers. 
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Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 

Brexit has contributed towards an extended lead time for vehicle parts for repairs on the existing fleet and 
replacement vehicles, which poses an operational risk to the businesses ability to service its customers. In order 
to limit any impact on the operational side of the business it has required additional focus to enable the most 
efficient distribution of fleet vehicles to minimise any interruptions to customer servicing schedules. 
 
Changes in legislation 
Unexpected changes in legislation in relation to the Company’s business activities could have a material impact 
on the Company’s strategy, business and profitability.  Loomis UK Limited attempts to mitigate these risks by 
keeping abreast constantly of potential changes which may impact the company to enable as much lead time as 
possible to make compensatory changes to operations and strategy. 
 
IT systems 
The Company relies on key IT systems and processes in order to provide services and key reporting to 
customers whilst maintaining compliance with relevant legislation. Key system failures, and a failure of key 
business continuity and disaster recovery processes, could materially impact the Company’s reputation, 
business and profitability.  The Loomis group as a whole mitigates these risks by investing heavily in its data 
centres and business continuity planning. 
 
Criminal attacks and robberies 

Due to the nature of the Company’s activities, a significant increase in criminal attacks and robberies against the 
Company’s employees, customer property/employees and members of the public could have a material impact 
on the Company’s reputation, business, assets and profitability.  Loomis UK Limited emphasises heavily to all 
employees the importance of safety and has a robust training scheme designed to minimalise the risks faced 
daily by its operational staff. 
 
Employee relations 
As a service provider, the Company’s relationship with our employees is crucial to the successful customer 
services delivery. A significant deterioration in labour relations could have a material impact on the Company’s 
reputation, business and profitability. 
The Company was able to increase its headcount towards the end of 2022 and maintain this throughout 2023.  
The company is always looking at ways to streamline the process of onboarding new recruits. 
 
Inflationary pressures 
Increasing fuel costs, have meant the Company has been subject to higher prices, which have been mitigated 
by a fuel surcharge matrix incorporated into customer contracts which is based on market diesel prices.  This 
has enabled Loomis UK Limited to cover the fuel increase accordingly.  
The Company’s 3-year fixed energy tariff ended in September 2022.  Loomis UK Limited was able to negotiate 
a further fixed term contract with a new supplier during 2021 that came into force when the previous contract 
expired.  This has enabled the Company to weather much of the current UK energy crisis. 
Staff costs have risen due to employee cost of living rises.  Loomis UK Limited recognises the importance of 
ensuring that employees are compensated fairly.  The Company has absorbed a lot of these costs in the short 
term which has led to an increase in cost of sales. 
 

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) 

Operational Key Performance Indicators (“KPI’s”) used within the business for understanding financial 
performance are turnover, gross profit percentage and profit margin before tax. During the year the company’s 
turnover increased to £73,694,000 (2022: £72,008,000) this was mainly due to customer price increases triggered 
by inflationary pressures. Gross margin increased to 13.01% (2022: 12.60 %) and loss margin before tax 
increased to -8.64% (2022: -7.63%).  The year-on-year increase in loss percentage margin has been driven almost 
solely by the increase in financing costs caused by the global increase interest rates.  This is illustrated by Loomis 
UK Limited seeing an improvement in operating loss margin year-on-year to -5.83% (2022: -6.76%), despite the 
increase in cost of sales. 
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Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Section 172 Statement 

It is the duty of the Directors to protect the sustainability of the Company, as well as the best interests of its 
various stakeholders.  These stakeholders include: 

 Customers 

 Suppliers 

 Employees 

 Loomis UK Pension Scheme 

Regulators and other Government agencies 

 Community and the Environment 

 Other Loomis Group companies 

 The ultimate shareholder, Loomis AB 

Therefore, in making key decisions the Directors and Management review and challenge the potential impact of 
recommended actions to reach an agreed executable plan designed to balance the interests of all impacted 
parties. 

In order to achieve this objective, the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1) (a) to (f) 
of the Companies Act 2006 by taking the following interests into consideration where applicable: 

 Customers - the Company strives to deliver exceptional quality and innovative solutions that add 

value.  Exceeding customer expectations is a service aim for the Company and is integrated within one 

of the core values of the Loomis Model.  Further details of the Loomis Group core values can be found 

on page 29 of the Loomis AB 2023 Annual Report. 

The Company actively listens to the customer’s needs with the goal of understanding where they are 
today and where they would like to be in the future, thus giving the opportunity to develop better 
solutions in order to meet the customers’ current needs and needs of the future. 
Service level agreements are implemented with customers being credited for unavoidable service 
fulfilment failures. 
The impact on customers of the Nottingham branch closure during 2023 was considered before the 
decision was finalised.  It was determined that it would be possible to absorb the services they 
provided by neighbouring branches in the network without adverse impact on customers. 
Like many industries recruitment of drivers is a key priority to enable Loomis UK Limited to fulfil its 
commitments to its customers.  The company is constantly looking at ways to improve staff retention in 
order to meets is service targets to its customers.   

 Suppliers – the Company is committed to maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers.  Loomis 

UK Limited has fully embraced the payment practices and performance reporting requirements which 

became effective in April 2017.  The Company has a clear dispute resolution process.  Typical  

payment terms of 30 days exist with suppliers, with an average time to pay of 25 days as at the 

reporting period. 

 Employees – The Directors consider the Company’s employees to be its most valuable asset.  As a 

transport-intensive company exposed to strong risk and security considerations on a day-to-day 

operational basis, the employee’s safety is paramount.  As stated in the Loomis AB 2023 Annual 

Report on page 40, inclusion within our workplaces has been identified as a key success factor at 

Loomis. It facilitates growth and development for all within the Company. With a new strategy launched 

in 2022 around inclusion, diversity and fairness, Loomis UK Limited showcases best practice in the 

area.  The company participated in the new inclusive leadership training for groups top 300 managers.  

Loomis UK limited also has mandatory diversity and inclusion training as part of its induction for all new 

managers and employees. 

The Company actively seeks input from its employees and takes into consideration the views and 
opinions expressed.  There are several ways in which this is achieved: 

o Conducting employee surveys.  The Company issues an employee survey on an annual basis 

in order to gain feedback from all employees on an anonymous basis so as to gain insight into 

employee opinion on culture, leadership, information dissemination and treatment of 

employees.  The results are collated at department manager level and relayed to managers 

anonymously. 

o A new employee discount and benefit platform (“Reward Gateway”) was launched in 2023 

which provides retail discounts and is available to all of the Company’s employees. In 

addition, during 2024, a new communication platform, utilising the Reward Gateway platform,  

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6D4D97E8-CAF2-473A-AFEE-2993E6BF4E7E



Loomis UK Limited   Registration number: 03200432 

5 

 

Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Section 172 Statement (continued) 

has been launched (“myConnect”) which provides Company-wide communications, allows 

employees to provide feedback and is a recognition tool. 

o Monthly business update calls are held with all key managers which provide an update on the 

Company’s key performance targets and offer an opportunity for feedback. The attendees on 

this call are expected to update their teams on the Company performance and status. 

o Conducting exit interviews for employees leaving the Company and sharing this feedback with 

Management. 

o Ensuring that all employees complete the training programmes in the Code of Conduct.  

Every new recruit goes through an introduction program.  To ensure a high and consistent  

level of safety, employees are trained and educated on an ongoing basis.  There is also a 

focus on recruiting the right people with the right values. 

o Fostering a culture of openness and ensuring that all employees are offered a safe workplace 

and a sound and open working environment.  The Company’s Code of Conduct contains the 

fundamental values and codes that clearly establish, among other things, the Company’s zero 

tolerance for all forms of discrimination, and that each individual must be treated with respect. 

If employees do not feel safe in expressing an opinion, there is an anonymous whistle-blower 

system called the Loomis Integrity Line. 

o The company actively engages with employee unions to try and achieve mutually beneficial 

outcomes for employees and Loomis UK Limited alike.  

o During 2023 the company rolled out a salary sacrifice car scheme to all eligible employees, 

with the aim of making a new electric or hybrid vehicle more affordable to staff. 

 Loomis UK Pension Scheme – the Company considers the Loomis UK Pension Scheme, a defined 

benefit scheme closed to new members in 2001 and to future accrual in 2013, a key stakeholder. The 

Company works collaboratively with the Trustees of the pension scheme to put in place a long-term  

and sustainable strategy to ensure that the scheme is appropriately funded to meet the obligations to 

its members.  An at-retirement Pension Increase Exchange Option was introduced in 2023 for deferred 

members of the defined benefit scheme which offers members the choice of exchanging future increases on 

their pensions for a one-off uplift.    

 Regulators and other Government agencies – ensuring long-term sustainability of the Company 

through the adherence to proper stand-alone governance practices and conduct rules.  The  

Company intends to maintain and promote business methods with the highest ethical standards. There 

is a zero-tolerance policy for unethical behaviour. 

All cases of unethical behaviour that are reported are followed up, investigated and appropriate actions 
taken. 

 Community and the Environment – ensuring that the Company acts as a good corporate citizen in 

the communities it serves.   

Loomis AB has issued Sustainability-linked bonds since 2021 under its Sustainability-Linked Finance 

Framework. By integrating sustainability into the business and in the financing of the company, Loomis 

aims to create value not only for shareholders but also for customers, employees, partners, and society 

at large. The bonds are linked to the target of a 20 percent reduction in Loomis’ absolute carbon 

emissions by the end of 2025, compared with the 2019 level. 

Loomis UK Limited has embraced the Group’s targets for 2025.  The company has already exceeded 

this target by reducing its tCO₂ emissions by 39 percent since 2019.  The dramatic reduction has been 

driven by the downsizing of the fleet of operational vehicles and the closure of several branches during 

and since the Covid pandemic. 

During the year the company began a new programme of replacing older and heavier fleet vehicles 

with 110 lighter and more fuel-efficient vehicles.  We have 8 electric vehicles on order in 2024, which 

should be on the road during 2025. 

New plastic security bags procured are made up of a high percentage of recycled materials. 

 Other Loomis Group Companies – The Company both utilises the services of other companies within 

the Group and provides services to other members of the Group.  Where it does it ensures that it 

establishes terms that would be available to/from other customers/suppliers in the local marketplace. 

 Ultimate Shareholder – the aim of the Company is to provide a long-term stable operating 

environment through which it can contribute towards the overall growth of the Loomis Group. 

The Company has recognised the reduced demand for cash services due to trends towards digital 

payment methods and on-line shopping and has reacted accordingly by restructuring its operational  
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Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Section 172 Statement (continued) 

activities to maximise the efficiency of its resources, thereby maintaining its returns to its ultimate 

shareholder Loomis AB. 

 

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

T Gibbs 
Director 

26 September 2024 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of the company for the year ended 
31 December 2023.  

Future developments 

These are included within the strategic report on page 2. 

Business relationships 

Business relationships are discussed within the section 172(1) statement of the directors’ report. 

Going concern 

The company meets its day-to-day cash requirements through its available committed banking facilities. The 
company has net current assets of £11,052,000 (2022: net current assets of £7,428,000), net assets of 
£40,155,000 (2022: net assets of £38,830,000), distributable reserves of -£2,053,000 (2022: -£3,400,000) and it 
has cash of £2,310,000 (2022: £6,813,000) as at 31 December 2023.  

Cash usage in the UK has stabilised post COVID-19.  The company has undergone a further small restructure 
in 2023 in order to right-size the business to operate in the current market conditions.  In light of the reduction in 
cash usage following the COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors have assessed that it still remains appropriate for 
the accounts to be prepared on a going concern basis. This is on the basis that the Company’s cost base has 
been adjusted based on the new volume levels and that there remain growth opportunities in a market that it is 
likely to see further consolidation and industry initiatives, such as Cash Access UK, which will support future 
significant cash usage.  The company is also capitalising on opportunities to expand its revenue derived from 
SafePoint products. 

Loomis UK Limited has not needed to seek additional loan assistance and is currently operating within its 
agreed overdraft facility which is funded by its ultimate parent Loomis AB. 

After making enquiries and taking into account the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the UK cash market, the 
directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. A letter of support has been signed by the parent company Loomis AB 
confirming their continuing support for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval to these 
financial statements.  The directors have assessed and concluded that the parent company is in a position to be 
able to provide sufficient financial support to the company and for the accounts to be prepared on a going concern 
basis with no material uncertainty identified.  The company therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing its financial statements. 

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 

The total energy consumption for the period ended 31 December 2023 along with prior year comparative was 

Category Total kWh Total kWh 

 2023 2022 

Electricity consumption 3,029,203 3,103,700 

Transport Fuel:   

    Diesel 26,388,000 27,443,000 

    Petrol 153,800 147,700 

Total 29,571,003 30,694,400 

 

The associated greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) is 7,425 tonnes CO2e (2022: 7,709 tonnes CO2e): 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued) 

 

 2023 2022 

Emissions source Tonnes 
CO2e 

% Share Tonnes 
CO2e 

% Share 

Scope 1 6,739 91% 6,654 86% 

Scope 2 625 8% 605 8% 

Scope 3 61 1% 450 6% 

Total emissions (tCO2e) 7,425 100% 7,709 100% 

Note: Scope 1: Company operated transport and private vehicles used for business travel.  Scope 2: Electricity.  Scope 3: 
Procured plastic bags.  This only includes emissions reportable under SECR and may not reflect the entire carbon footprint of 
the organisation.  As an unquoted entity, Scope 3 emissions are not required to be disclosed, but Scope 1 and 2 emissions 
must include certain aspects of Scope 3 emissions as well, notably emissions from business travel in rental cars or 
employee‑owned vehicles, where organisations are responsible for purchasing fuel. Unquoted entities must also disclose energy 
consumed in relation to transport using the same definitions. 

An intensity ratio of 100.8 (2022: 107.1) tonnes of CO2e per £m of revenue has been calculated to enable yearly 
performance comparison. 

Methodology 

Loomis AB uses a third-party system to handle all sustainability data. The system is tailored for reporting of 
sustainability data and KPIs. This facilitates and validates the process of systematically collecting, confirming, 
calculating and reporting sustainability data in the areas of health and safety, the environment and corporate 
governance. Each country reports data quarterly and for the whole year. In case activity-based data is not 
available, extrapolations or estimations are done based on cost and internal benchmark. The data is verified 
centrally by Loomis AB. 

All climate reporting at a Loomis group level in Scope 1 and 2 is based on the GHG Protocol, the international 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol Initiative, and is done through the third-party system. The emissions factors in the 
system’s database are updated on a yearly basis, according to best practice.  Calculations of carbon emissions 
from transport (Scope 1) are made in relation to absolute volume, and emissions from the vehicle fleet in 
relation to distance driven.  Calculations of carbon emissions from purchased energy (Scope 2) are carried out 
according to both the GHG location-based method and the market-based method. 

Energy efficiency initiatives 

The Loomis groups new sustainability targets were issued in quarter one of 2022, which included the goal of 
reducing carbon emissions by 15% in Scope 1 and 2 combined by the end of 2024, using 2019 as the base 
year. 
 
Direct emissions from the company’s own transport operations in 2023 were reduced by 32.9 percent (2022: 
33.8 percent) in absolute numbers compared with 2019. This is in part explained by a decline in transport 
operations during the coronavirus pandemic.  It has been challenging to achieve route efficiency because of the 
lower route density.  The decline in emissions is also due to increased use of light skin vehicles and the use of 
telematics to route plan.   
 
Due to the secure nature of the work carried out by Loomis, there is a reliance on heavily armoured vehicles.  
The heavy nature of the armour has impacted efforts to move the fleet towards electric vehicles, however 
various pilots are underway across the group to address this problem.  Older and heavier fleet vehicles have 
been replaced with lighter and more fuel-efficient vehicles, with investment in a further 110 new fleet vehicles 
commencing in Q4 2023.  We have 8 electric vehicles on order in 2024, which should be delivered in the 
second half of the year. 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

 
Results and dividends 
 

The results for the year are set out on page 15. 

During the year no dividend was paid (2022: £-).  Due to the continuing losses since the COVID-19 pandemic 
experienced by the business the company will not be required to pay a dividend during 2024. 

Financial risk management 

The company has both interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Interest bearing assets comprise 
only of cash balances. These assets and liabilities are subject to interest rate fluctuations. The amounts owed to 
group undertakings are unsecured and accrue interest at rates agreed by Loomis AB treasury function, which are 
aligned to prevailing market rates plus a transfer pricing margin set by the treasury function. The directors review 
interest rate policy on a regular basis. 

The company is exposed to liquidity risk. The company has committed banking facilities through a cash pooling 
and loan agreement with other companies within the Loomis AB group. The directors regularly monitor available 
cash balances and available facilities to ensure that the company has sufficient funds to meet its obligations.  

The company is exposed to credit risk as a result of its operations. Prior to sales being made appropriate checks 
are performed over the ability of the customer to pay. Regular reviews and monitoring of the aged debtors ledger 
are utilised to minimise the risk to the company on an ongoing basis.  

The Company is financed via an overdraft facility (managed through a Group Treasury arrangement) and a loan 
provided by its ultimate parent company, Loomis AB. The Company therefore has interest and funding risk 
exposure but due to the nature of the facilities, provided by its ultimate parent company, the Directors assess that 
this risk is low given the ongoing support of Loomis AB. 

The company is not exposed to any significant exchange rate risk. 

Employee engagement 

The company aims to maintain a healthy employee environment which encourages dialogue between 
management and employees.  On a regular basis management engages with the employees through a range of 
channels, including face to face, webcasts and via internal bulletins issued via email.  For operational staff who 
do not have email access company notices are displayed on electronic bulletin boards within the branches. 

Further information around employee engagement is included in the employee section of the Section 172 
Statement within the Strategic report on pages 4 and 5. 

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective 
aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort 
is made to ensure that their employment with the company continues and appropriate training is arranged. It is 
the policy of the company that the training, career development and promotion of a disabled person should, as 
far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability. 

Consultation with employees or their representatives, where not commercially sensitive, occurs at all levels, with 
the aim of ensuring that their views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their 
interests and that all employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their business units and 
of the company as a whole. 

Encouragement of active involvement in the Company’s performance is offered to some management staff in the 
form of an annual incentive programme, which takes the form of a cash incentive scheme.  Further details of the 
scheme can be found in Note 5. 

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others 

The company actively engages with its customers in order to better understand their needs and to help provide a 
service which meets their business needs both now and in the future.  The company is constantly searching for 
innovative solutions to customer needs by investigating products that can enhance its current offerings. 

The company is committed to maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers.  Loomis UK Limited complies with 
the payment performance reporting requirements.  Further details of how the company engages with its customers 
and suppliers can be found in the Section 172 Statement within the Strategic report on page 4. 

Donations 

During the year the company made charitable donations of £4,082 (2022: £-).  No donations for political purposes 
were made (2022: £-). 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Directors 

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are given 
below: 

T Gibbs 
S Kazes 
N Högberg (resigned 31st March 2023)  
 
Directors’ indemnities 

The ultimate parent company Loomis AB maintains liability insurance for the company’s directors and officers. 
Following shareholder approval, the company has also provided an indemnity for its directors and the secretary, 
which is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006.  This was in 
force for the year to 31 December 2023 and remains in force at the date of this report. 

Post balance sheet events 

No post balance sheet events to report. 
 
Statement of directors’ responsibilities  

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced 
Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the 
company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material                                                                                             
           departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and                   

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial information included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 

Directors' confirmations 

In the case of each director in office at the date the Directors’ report is approved: 

 so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are 
unaware; and 

 they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that 
information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act 2006. 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

Independent auditors 

The auditors, Deloitte LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their 
re-appointment will be proposed at the annual general meeting. 

 

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

T Gibbs 

Director 
26 September 2024  
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Loomis UK Limited  

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements of Loomis UK Limited (the ‘company’): 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of its loss for the 
year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

 the statement of comprehensive income; 

 the statement of financial position; 

 the statement of changes in equity; 

 the related notes 1 to 27. 
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report.  
 
We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained 
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Loomis UK Limited 
(continued) 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures 
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below.  

We considered the nature of the company’s industry and its control environment and reviewed the company’s 
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We 
also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities, including those that are specific to the company’s business sector.  

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the company operates in, and 
identified the key laws and regulations that:  

 had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
These included the UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation; and 

 do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to 
the company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. 

We discussed among the audit engagement team regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist 
within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements. 

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our 
procedures performed to address them are described below: 

 Revenue recognition and specifically the risk that there are manual adjustments made to revenue 
recognised in the general ledger which overrides the recognition of revenue based on the data from the 
billing system. We have profiled manual journal entries posted to revenue accounts, and, for a sample of 
entries, have obtained evidence that they are valid and bona fide journal entries, and that where revenue 
has been manually recognised, this is in accordance with IFRS 15. 

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to 

the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we 

tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in 

making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any 

significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following: 

 reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements; 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Loomis UK Limited 
(continued) 

 

 performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks 
of material misstatement due to fraud;  

 enquiring of management and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, 
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and  

 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

 

Mark Doerr ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Birmingham, United Kingdom  
26 September 2024 
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

All amounts above relate solely to continuing operations. 

Other comprehensive expense will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 

 Note  2023 2022 

   Total Total 

   £’000 £’000 

Revenue 4  73,694 72,008 

Cost of sales   (64,109) (62,934) 

Gross profit   9,585 9,074 

Other Operating Income 7  - 58 

Administrative expenses   (13,878) (13,998) 

Operating loss 10  (4,293) (4,866) 

Finance income  8  855 329 

Finance expense 9  (2,927) (956) 

Loss before tax   (6,365) (5,493) 

Tax on loss 11  1,257 (469) 

Loss for the financial year   (5,108)     (5,962) 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:     

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit obligations 24  (1,393) 14 

Total tax on components of other comprehensive (expense)/income 22  348 (4) 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year   (1,045) 10 

Total comprehensive expense for the year   (6,153) (5,952) 
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Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2023 

  

Note 

 

2023 

£’000 

 

2022 

£’000 

Fixed assets    

Intangible assets 12 11,689 11,653 

Property, plant and equipment 13 30,830 30,475 

Right-of-use assets 14 6,048 6,772 

  48,567 48,900 

    
Current assets    

Inventories 15 214 295 

Non-current assets held for sale  331 - 

Debtors (including £231,000 (2022: £229,000) due after more than 
one year) 

16 
 

24,735 20,609 

Pension asset 24 14,134 14,675 

Cash at bank and in hand  2,310 6,813 

  41,724 42,392 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (30,672) (34,964) 

Net current assets  11,052 7,428 

Total assets less current liabilities  59,619 56,328 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (10,000) (10,000) 

Interest-bearing non-current lease liabilities 19 (5,630) (6,057) 

Non-current finance lease obligations 20 (2,314) - 

Provisions for liabilities 21 (956) (900) 

Deferred tax liabilities 22 (564) (541) 

Net assets   40,155 38,830 

Capital and reserves    

Called up share capital  23 20,443 20,443 

Share premium account  18,207 18,207 

Share based remuneration  - 22 

Capital redemption reserve  3,558 3,558 

Profit and loss account  8 (2,053) (3,400) 

Total shareholders’ funds  40,155 38,830 

 
The financial statements on pages 15 to 46 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue  
on 26 September 2024 and are signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
T Gibbs 
Director 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

Called up 
share 

capital 

Share 
premium 

account 
Capital 

redemption 
reserve 

Share 
based 

remunerati
on 

Profit 
and loss 
account 

Total 
shareholders’ 

funds 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 January 2022 20,443 18,207 3,558 4 2,552 44,764 

Loss for the financial year - - - - (5,962) (5,962) 

Share based remuneration - - - 18 - 18 

Other comprehensive expense 
for the year: 

- Actuarial gain on defined 
benefit obligations - - - - 14 14 

  - Total tax on components of 
other comprehensive expense - - - - (4) (4) 

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year - - - 18 (5,952) (5,934) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 20,443 18,207 3,558 22 (3,400) 38,830 

Loss for the financial year - - - - (5,108) (5,108) 

Other comprehensive income for 
the year: 

  - Actuarial loss on defined 
benefit obligations - - - - (1,393) (1,393) 

  - Total tax on components of 
other comprehensive income - - - - 348 348 

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year - - - - (6,153) (6,153) 

Share based remuneration - - - (22) - (22) 

Share issuance 4,017 3,483 - - - 7,500 

Capital Reduction (4,017) (3,483) - - 7,500 - 

Balance at 31 December 2023 20,443 18,207 3,558 - (2,053) 40,155 

Called up share capital account represents consideration received for shares at their nominal value (£100 per share). 

Share premium account represents consideration received for shares issued above their nominal value net of transaction 
costs.  

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares repurchased and still held at the end of the reporting 
year.  

Profit and loss account represents accumulated comprehensive (expense) / income for the year and prior years, less 
distributions to owners.   

Share based remuneration relates to the long-term share-based incentive scheme (LTIP 2021) which was approved during 
2021.  The provision was released in December 2023 as the employee it pertained to left the company during 2023.
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

1 General information 

Loomis UK Limited (“the company”) provides cash in transit security and ATM maintenance.  

The company is a private company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies 
Act 2006 and is registered in England and Wales. The address of its registered office for inspection of registers 
is 6th floor Regus, East West Building 2, Tollhouse Hill, Nottingham NG1 5FS. 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting 
Requirements’ issued by the FRC.  Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’.  

These financial statements are separate financial statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention and 
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ and the Companies Act 
2006.   

Impact of initial application of other amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations 

The following new or amended standards were applicable as of January 1, 2023: IFRS 17 Insurance contracts: 
Insurance contracts (endorsed by EU on November 19, 2021), IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Disclosure of accounting policies (endorsed by EU on March 2, 2022), IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of accounting estimates (endorsed by EU on March 2, 2022), IAS 
12 Income taxes: Deferred tax relating to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction (endorsed by EU 
on August 11, 2022), IFRS 17 Insurance contracts: Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – comparative 
information (endorsed by EU on September 8, 2022), IAS 12 Income taxes: International tax reform – Pillar two 
Model rules. The new or amended standards have not had any material impact on the company’s financial 
statements. 

New or amended accounting standards to be applied after 2023 

The following new or changed reporting standards have been published but are not mandatory for 2023, and 
have not been early adopted by Loomis: IFRS 16 Leases: Lease liability in a sale and lease-back, IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of liabilities as current and non-current, IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants, IAS 17 and IFRS7; Supplier finance 
arrangements, IAS 21 The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability. These new or 
amended standards have not been adopted by the EU unless specifically stated otherwise, and they are not 
expected to have any material impact on Loomis UK Limited’s financial statements. 

Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except where otherwise 
indicated. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3. 

Basis of preparation  

The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of these financial 
statements, in accordance with FRS 101: 

 Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS2, ‘Share-based payment’ (details of the number and weighted-
average exercise prices of share options, and how the fair value of goods or services received was 
determined). 

 IFRS7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. 

 IFRS3, ‘Business Combinations’ 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Basis of preparation (continued) 

 Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ comparative information requirements in 
respect of: 
 (i)  paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1; and 
(ii) paragraph 73(e) of IAS16 Property, plant and equipment. 
The following paragraphs of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’: 

 10(d), (statement of cash flows); 

 10(f) (a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity 
applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its 
financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements); 

 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS); 

 38A (requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements); 

 38B-D (additional comparative information); 

 40A-D (requirements for a third statements of financial position); 

 111 (cash flow statement information); and 

 134-136 (capital management disclosures). 

 IAS 7, ‘Statement of cash flows’. 

 Paragraph 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ 
(requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been 
issued but is not yet effective). 

 Paragraph 17 of IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ (key management compensation). 

 The requirements in IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into 
between two or more members of a group. 

 
Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have been given in the group accounts of Loomis AB. 

Going concern 

The company meets its day-to-day cash requirements through its available committed banking facilities. The 
company has net current assets of £11,052,000 (2022: net current assets of £7,428,000), net assets of 
£40,155,000 (2022: net assets of £38,830,000), distributable reserves of -£2,053,000 (2022: -£3,400,000) and it 
has cash of £2,310,000 (2022: £6,813,000) as at 31 December 2023.  

Cash usage in the UK has stabilised post COVID-19.  The company has undergone a further small restructure 
in 2023 in order to right-size the business to operate in the current market conditions.  In light of the reduction in 
cash usage following the COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors have assessed that it still remains appropriate for 
the accounts to be prepared on a going concern basis. This is on the basis that the Company’s cost base has 
been adjusted based on the new volume levels and that there remain growth opportunities in a market that it is 
likely to see further consolidation and industry initiatives, such as Cash Access UK, which will support future 
significant cash usage.  The company is also capitalising on opportunities to expand its revenue derived from 
SafePoint products. 

Loomis UK Limited has not needed to seek additional loan assistance and is currently operating within its 
agreed overdraft facility which is funded by its ultimate parent Loomis AB. 

After making enquiries and taking into account the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the UK cash market, the 
directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. A letter of support has been signed by the parent company Loomis AB 
confirming their continuing support for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval to these 
financial statements.  The directors have assessed and concluded that the parent company is in a position to be 
able to provide sufficient financial support to the company and for the accounts to be prepared on a going concern 
basis with no material uncertainty identified.  The company therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing its financial statements. 

Exceptional Items 

Items are disclosed as exceptional items where they are deemed to be one-off in nature and of a material size 
such that separate disclosure with a note, is required to enable the reader of the accounts to fully understand the 
company’s performance and activities.   
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Foreign currency translation 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the company operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are 
presented in ‘Pounds Sterling’ (£), which is also the company’s functional currency.  

(b) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive 
income as qualifying cash flow hedges. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less depreciation.  The cost of purchased assets is the fair value 
of consideration given to acquire the assets and the value of other directly attributable costs which have been 
incurred in bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for their intended use. 

Upon disposal of an asset, any sale proceeds are recognised in the income statement in the period during which 
the asset is sold.  Any residual net book value of the asset is released to the income statement in the period during 
which the asset is disposed of. 

Freehold buildings   - 5%  
Long leasehold land and buildings - 10%  
Short leasehold land and buildings - 20% or over the term of the lease 
Plant & machinery   - 10% to 66¾%  
Vehicles    - 8.3% to 25%  

Plant & machinery includes assets relating to the Loomis SafePoint product offering.  The safes are leased to 
customers as part of a servicing contract.  The SafePoint assets are depreciated over the life of the service 
contract with the customer. 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises on business combinations and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the 
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the 
CGUs, or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of 
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level. 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment 
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed. 

The Goodwill balance relates to the acquisition of the trade and assets of the retail operations of Sunwin Security 
Group in 2015. Under FRS 101 this balance is not amortised but is subject to annual impairment reviews. Whilst 
this treatment is inconsistent with the Companies Act, which requires goodwill to be amortised over its UEL, 
management have determined that this is the most appropriate treatment in light of the fact that the acquired trade  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Intangible assets (continued) 

and assets were fully integrated into the existing business and operations and therefore cannot be separately 
identified and measured. 

Software licences 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. Software licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated 
useful lives of 3-5 years. 

Customer contracts 

Acquired customer contracts are initially recognised at fair value based upon the discounted value of the expected 
profits to be derived from the existing contracts. They are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives which 
is deemed to be 5 years based upon the average length of the customer contracts. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). Prior impairments of non-financial assets are reviewed for 
possible reversal at each reporting date. 

Financial assets 

Classification 

The company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, and 
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
on an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The company’s loans and receivables 
comprise receivables and cash in the statement of financial position. 

Recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred 
and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are 
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument. 

The Company always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit 
losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as 
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the Company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.  

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Cost is calculated on a first-in, 
first out basis.  Stock provisions are recorded where there is a risk of obsolescence or where excess stock 
balances are held.   
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), 
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. In the statement of financial 
position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Creditors 

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 
from suppliers. Creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 

Current and deferred income tax 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ 
funds. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds, 
respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date in the countries where the company operates and generates taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; or arise from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects either accounting nor taxable profit 
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where 
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

Employee benefits 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity. The company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. A 
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Employee benefits (continued) 

Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 

The asset recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which 
the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
obligation. 

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to shareholders’ funds in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

The amount charged or credited to finance costs is a net interest amount calculated by applying the liability 
discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

Provisions 

Provisions for onerous leases and reorganisation costs are recognised when: the company has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Onerous leases costs 

When a leasehold property remains empty for longer than 6 months or there is no foreseeable use for the property, 
then the lease is defined as onerous. The onerous lease costs are reflected as an impairment of the right-of-use 
asset associated with the property. 

Dilapidation costs 

Future expected costs relating to dilapidations are reflected under provisions.  The provision value represents the 
discounted net present value of the estimated future expenditure to settle obligations.  Estimated costs are based 
on a range of criteria including branch size, dilapidations assessments conducted by a third party and previous 
experience of costs likely to be incurred. 

Reorganisation  

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
for the amount of the obligation. 

Onerous (loss-making) contracts 

Onerous contract provisions are recognised for losses on contracts where the forecast costs of fulfilling the 
contract throughout the contract period exceed the forecast income receivable. 

Revenue recognition 

Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition 

Performance obligations are identified at the point when contracts are entered into.  The company’s obligations 
to its customers are based on the contract in which the performance obligation is detailed.  Revenue is measured 
at fair value and is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are delivered.  It is recognised based 
on the customer contract at the agreed transaction price at the point where the company has satisfied its 
performance obligation as set out in the contract.  The revenue is typically recognised on an over-time basis. 

Transaction Price 

The transaction price is the price that will be allocated to the Company’s performance obligations.  The transaction 
price is the amount that Loomis UK Limited expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services.  
This amount can be made up of both fixed and variable amounts. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue recognition (continued) 

SafePoint revenue recognition 

When providing services Loomis sometimes uses an equipment called SafePoint. When selling this solution, the 
service normally consists of providing the customer with transport services, cash management services and a 
storage service. The customer deposits cash into the SafePoint unit and the funds are then deposited on the 
customer’s bank account. The cash is collected, transported, processed, and verified as the amount deposited 
earlier and stored in Loomis's vault. SafePoint equipment is part of Loomis's delivery of the SafePoint service.  

SafePoint equipment at the customer’s premises is owned by Loomis and can be replaced with new SafePoint 
equipment by Loomis if this is deemed necessary. The contract is therefore not related to a specific asset. If a 
contract ends and the customer decides they would like to purchase the safe from Loomis, the proprietary 
software is removed first and the customer is given the key.   

Loomis's performance obligation involves performing services for the term of the contract for which it is paid on 
a monthly basis, but this requires Loomis to perform a variety of tasks every day. The services are essentially 
performed on a straight-line basis over time. From both Loomis's and the customer’s perspective the SafePoint 
equipment is included as part of the service that is delivered. These are not separate services and the SafePoint 
equipment is considered the same as any other equipment used to provide CIT and CMS services. For this 
reason, no allocation is made of the transaction price. Revenue is recognized throughout the term of the 
contract and invoiced on a monthly basis. 

Agency arrangements 

The company operates an agency arrangement for the provision of maintenance services for a customer’s ATM 
estate. The gross inflows of economic benefit include amounts collected on behalf of the principal and which do 
not result in increases in equity for the entity. Subsequently, the amounts collected on behalf of the principal are 
not included within revenue and operating profit. The agency arrangement is a straight pass through and results 
in no revenue for the entity. 

Rental income 

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lesees) is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

Finance income 

Finance income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan receivable is impaired, the 
company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted 
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 

Finance expense 

Finance costs are recognised using the effective interest method. Interest-bearing bank overdrafts and loans are 
recognised as laid out under the Borrowings section on page 21.  Finance costs, including premiums payable on 
settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest method. 

Dividend distribution 

Dividend distributions to the company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the company’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders. 

Share based payments 

Certain employees receive incentives under long term incentive schemes, some of which involve share based 
payment awards. Under these incentive arrangements employees of the company are granted options over 
shares in Loomis AB. These are valued at their market value at the date of the grant and a charge is recognised 
within administrative expenses for this fair value, over the life of the option. 

Right of use assets 

Following the transition to IFRS 16 all of Loomis’ leases are measured according to the cost model, which 
means that right-of-use assets will be measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability that reflects a reassessment or amendment of 
the lease. The remeasurement amount is recognized as an adjustment of the right-of-use asset. If the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset is written down to zero and there is a further reduction in the value of the lease 
liability, any remaining amount of the remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Lease liabilities include the present value of the following lease payments: 
 

 Fixed lease payments (including those that are substantially fixed) 

 Variable lease payments that are determined by an index or price 

 Guaranteed residual value that the lessee expects to be required to pay the lessor 

 The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the 
option 

 Penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the assumption that the lessee will exercise 
this option 

 
Lease payments are discounted by a discount rate based on the length of the lease and underlying interest rate 
plus a risk premium.  The discount rate is the same for all asset classes. 

 
Operating leases with a remaining term of less than 12 months are recognized as short-term agreements and are 
therefore not included in the calculation of the lease liability. 

 

3 Critical accounting judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
addressed below: 

(a) Useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment – critical estimate 

The annual depreciation charge for property, plant and equipment is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful 
economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-assessed 
annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on technological advancement, 
future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See note 13 for the carrying 
amount of the property, plant and equipment, and note 2 for the useful economic lives for each class of assets. 

(b) Impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment – critical estimate 
 
The company considers whether intangible assets, property, plant and equipment are impaired. Where an 
indication of impairment is identified the estimation of recoverable value requires estimation of the recoverable 
value of the cash generating units (CGUs). This requires estimation of the future cash flows from the CGUs and 
also selection of appropriate discount rates in order to calculate the net present value of those cash flows.  In 

connection with the impairment testing of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets, the carrying  
amount is compared with the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined by the greater of 
either an asset’s net realizable value or its value in use.  As under normal circumstances, no listed market 
prices are available to assess an asset’s net realizable value, the carrying amount is normally compared with 
the value in use. The calculation of the value in use is based on assumptions and assessments. The most  
important assumptions are organic growth, development of the operating margin, the utilization of operating 
capital employed and the relevant WACC rate used to discount future cash flows.  See note 12 for the carrying 
value of goodwill balances. 
 
Key assumptions used in the present value calculation include: 

 The CGUs revenue growth from its 2023 starting point is achieved based on delivering prices 
increases in-line with inflation 
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 the discount rate used in the present value calculation is 9.5% 

 capital investment expenditure is based on expected fixed asset replacement requirements of the 
business and does not include any expansion or growth-related investments 

 the operating margin of the CGU continues to increase in line with the customer price increase net of 
cost increases in-line with inflation 

 the company does not recommence funding of the defined benefit pension scheme on 1 January 2024 
as is currently outlined in the revised recovery plan which was signed off on 21 December 2022 (Note 
24) 

 
Using the above assumptions there is a headroom of £12.6M before impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, goodwill or other intangibles balances would be required. 
 
Loomis UK Limited’s property, plant and equipment, goodwill or other intangibles balances were unimpaired at 
the end of 2022, with sufficient headroom maintained during impairment testing to avoid impairment during 
2023.  Sensitivities were performed over the assumptions used for the testing with the impact as shown below: 
 
 

Assumption Reduction in impairment value headroom 

Base case revenue reduction 10% £5.4 million decrease 
Base case revenue reduction 20% £10.8 million decrease 
Increase discount rate by 1.0%  £6.2 million decrease 
Increase discount rate by 1.0% to 10.5% with a base case 
revenue reduction 20% 

£15.6 million decrease (impairment required) 

 
It was assumed during the sensitivity analysis that the impact of any reduction in revenue would reduce 
operating result by 100% of the reduced revenue percentage.   

(c) Defined benefit pension scheme – critical estimate 

The company has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and the 
present value of the obligation is determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation depends on 
making assumptions around a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations 
and the discount rate on corporate bonds. These are the factors used in determining the net pension obligation 
in the statement of financial position. Due to the complexity of the valuation and the long term nature of these 
plans, the estimates are subject to uncertainties.  The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. 
See note 24 for the disclosures of the defined benefit pension scheme. 

There are no judgements used concerning accounting policies. 

 

4 Revenue 

Analysis of revenue by geography: 

  
2023 

 
£’000 

2022 
 

£’000 

United Kingdom 73,330 71,545 

Rest of Europe 364 463 

 73,694 72,008 

All of the company’s revenue is derived from the sale of services. 
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5 Employee information 

The monthly average number of full-time equivalents (including executive directors) employed by the company 
during the year was: 

 2023 

Number 

2022 

Number 

Security operations 933 886 

Management and administration 146 148 

 1,079 1,034 

 
 
 

The aggregate payroll costs were as follows: 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Wages and salaries 36,958 36,060 

Social security costs 4,283 4,222 

Other pension costs 1,567 2,112 

 42,808 42,394 

Share based incentive scheme 

The Loomis Group currently has two types of incentive programs, one short-term and one long-term saving share-
based incentive scheme. In the short-term incentive scheme, the participants receive a cash-regulated bonus paid 
out the year after the earning year. The cost for Loomis is reported during the vesting period and is reported in 
the statement of income. The share-related reserve is reported as part of equity and not as a liability. At the end 
of the scheme, any deviations from the original estimates, e.g., due to an employee leaving the group and not 
receiving their allotted shares, are reported in the statement of income and corresponding adjustments are made 
in equity. 

Long-term share-based incentive scheme  

LTIP 2021-2023 

In the long-term share-based incentive scheme adopted in 2021 (LTIP 2021) the established performance target 
of cumulative earnings per share (EPS) during the period 2021 to 2023 was met at 67.9 percent and allotment of 
performance shares will take place after the end of the vesting period 
Loomis UK Limited incurred a credit of £25,982 (2022: cost of £21,073) relating to the schemes 1 participant 
(2022: 1 participants) in 2023.  The credit was due to the eligible employee leaving the company during the year. 
 

LTIP 2023-2025 

At the general meeting on May 4, 2023, a new long-term share-based incentive program (LTIP 2023) was decided. 
LTIP 2023 is aimed at group management and other key employees and is based on the same principles as the 
previous program (LTIP 2021), but LTIP 2023 also includes a share matching program. For the performance-
based plan, performance targets have been established regarding the development of earnings per share as well 
as a target related to the reduction of CO2. The former is determined yearly during the term of the program. The 
relative distribution between the EPS target and the CO2 target of the maximum allocation of performance shares 
is 90 percent and 10 percent, respectively. The performance targets, which are decided by the board, must 
indicate a minimum level and an upper target level for each performance target. If the upper target level is reached 
or exceeded, full allocation of performance shares shall take place, corresponding to: (i) five performance shares 
per savings share to the CEO, Regional President Europe, Regional President USA and Group CFO respectively,  
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(ii) four performance shares per savings share to other members of the group management and (iii) three 
performance shares per savings share for other participants. LTIP 2023 will cause personnel costs during the 
vesting period partly in the form of accounting salary costs, partly in the form of social security contribution. 
Loomis UK Limited incurred £- cost relating to the programme in 2023.  The cost for the schemes 1 eligible 
participant was recognised by other members of the Loomis Group. 
 
 

6 Directors’ emoluments  

Total directors’ emoluments, paid by the company to directors, for their services to Loomis UK Limited: 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Directors’ emoluments 422 777 

Value of company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 18 18 

 440 795 

As at 31 December 2023 retirement benefits are accruing to no directors (2022: none) under a defined benefit 
scheme. Company contributions to money purchase schemes in the year were £17,664 (2022: £17,649).  The 
contributions related to 2 directors (2022: 1 director).  During the year no directors (2022: none) exercised options 
over shares in Loomis AB, please refer to note 5 for more information.  

The 2023 cash incentive scheme recorded no payouts for Loomis UK Limited employees. So there were no 
participants (2022: 2 participants) who were eligible for the 100% cash element of the scheme; a charge of £- has 
been recorded in profit or loss in the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: £108,585). 

A charge of £5,908 was recorded in 2023 relating to a shortfall on the accrual for the cash element of the 2022 
incentive scheme. 

£- was paid to directors or past directors in respect of loss of office during the year (2022: £-). 

 

Emoluments of highest paid director 

 

 

 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Directors’ emoluments 189 652 

Value of company pension contributions to money purchase schemes - - 

 189 652 

The amount of accrued defined benefit pension in respect of the highest paid director at 31 December 2023 was 
£- (2022: £-). 

Company pension contributions are made directly to the scheme by Loomis Sverige AB. 
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7 Other operating income 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Sub-lease income - 58 

 - 58 

 
Income received from sub-leasing a vacant branch for the duration of the year. 

 

 

8 Finance income 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Bank interest income 27 59 

Interest from HMRC on payments on account 116 - 

Net income on the net defined benefit pension deficit (note 24) 712 270 

 855 329 

 

 

9 Finance expense 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Bank borrowings 1,592 462 

Group loans 1,005 253 

Change in discount factor and unwinding of discount on the dilapidations 
provision 

71 3 

Finance lease interest expense 61 - 

Lease liability interest 198 238 

 2,927 956 

 
The discount factor applied to the dilapidations provision in 2023 has been increased to 4.384% (2022: 3.5325%).  
This is due to the inflationary pressures currently being experienced in the UK and globally. 
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 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):   

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 85 69 

Exchange (gains)/losses (2) 27 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13) 7,608 7,974 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 14) 1,343 1,680 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 73 127 

Operating lease expense 17 15 

Restructuring expenses (see below) 941 - 

   

Services provided by the company’s auditors   

-  Fees payable for the audit of the financial statements 139 99 

-  Fees payable for non-audit services - - 

   

Cost of reorganisation:    

Premises expense 482 - 

Fixed asset write-off (disposed of before balance sheet date) 135 - 

Sale proceeds (Nottingham branch) (700) - 

Staff costs 1,024 - 

 

 
At the year end, a provision for restructuring expenditure of £23,047 (2022: £22,074) remains unutilised within 
provisions for liabilities (note 21) in relation to the committed future costs of the programme. 

Total restructuring expenses of £941,000 (2022: £-) have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income as an expense. 
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11   Tax on loss 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Current tax   

UK corporation tax on loss for the year - - 

Prior year adjustments (1,628) (2,419) 

Total current tax credit (1,628) (2,419) 

Deferred tax   

Origination and reversal of timing differences (1,279) (894) 

Impact of deferred tax rate changes - - 

Prior year adjustments 1,650 3,782 

Total deferred tax charge 371 2,888 

Tax (credit)/charge on loss (1,257) 469 

The tax assessed for the year is higher (2022: higher) than the standard effective rate of corporation tax in the 
UK for the year ended 31 December 2023 of 23.5% (2022: 19%).  The differences are explained below: 

 

 

 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Loss before taxation (6,365) (5,493) 

Loss multiplied by the standard effective rate of corporation tax in the UK of 
23.5% (2022: 19%) (1,496) (1,044) 

 

Effects of:   

Expense not taxable 217 550 

Impact of super deduction  - (400) 

Prior year adjustments 22 1,363 

Tax (credit)/charge for the year (1,257) 469 
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Factors affecting current and future tax charges 

The future tax charge will be affected by losses available for group relief. 

Corporation tax is recorded at 23.5% (2022: 19%).  Legislation was introduced in the Finance Bill 2021 to set the 
main rate for Corporation Tax at 25% for the financial year beginning 1 April 2023.  Since the proposal to increase 
the rate to 25% has been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, its effects are including in these 
financial statements. 
The Finance Bill 2023 introduced legislation which offers 100% first-year relief to companies on qualifying new 
main rate plant and machinery investments from 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2026.  It also introduced a 50% first-
year allowance (FYA) for expenditure by companies on new special rate (including long life) assets until 31 March 
2026.  
Deferred tax balances at 31 December 2023 are measured at 25% (2022: 25%).   
 

12  Intangible assets 

 

 

Customer 
contracts 

£’000 
Goodwill 

£’000 

Software 
licences 

£’000 
Total 
£’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2023  4,022 11,558 5,285 20,865 

Additions  - - 121 121 

At 31 December 2023  4,022 11,558 5,406 20,986 

Accumulated amortisation      

At 1 January 2023  4,022 - 5,190 9,212 

Charge for year  - - 85 85 

At 31 December 2023  4,022 - 5,275 9,297 

Net book value      

At 31 December 2023  - 11,558 131 11,689 

At 31 December 2022  - 11,558 95 11,653 

 
Intangible assets amortisation is recorded in administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Recoverable amounts have been calculated as the value in use.  The useful life of the customer 
contract portfolio and the related customer relationships are based on the turnover rate of the acquired portfolio 
and are equal to 5 years, corresponding to annual amortisation of 20 percent.  The customer contract portfolio 
amortisation completed during 2020. 
The Loomis UK Limited goodwill balance relates solely to the acquisition of the trade and assets of Cardtronics’ 
Retail CIT business on 1 July 2015 (held in the entity Sunwin Security Services Limited) and reflects the 
difference between the fair value of the assets acquired and the consideration paid after the recognition of an 
intangible asset for the contract portfolio acquired. 
The goodwill balance is reviewed annually for impairment.  Future cash flows are discounted using the weighted 
average cost of capital (WACC) of 9.5% (2022: 9.5%).  It is assumed that Loomis UK Limited’s revenue will 
grow by 30.6% over the next 5 years from its 2024 starting point which is to be achieved based on delivering a 
combination of contract wins, price increases in-line with inflation and that operating margins will also continue 
to increase in line with the customer price increase net of cost increases in-line with inflation.  Sensitivity testing 
is conducted on the assumptions used to perform the impairment review to ensure sufficient headroom. 
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13 Property, plant and equipment 

 
Freehold 
land and 

buildings 
£’000 

Long 
leasehold 
land and 

buildings 
£’000 

Short 
leasehold 
land and 

buildings 
£’000 

Plant & 
machinery 

£’000 

 

Vehicles 

in-build 

£’000 

 

Total 
£’000 

Cost       

At 1 January 2023 3,615 9,536 9,955 78,124 2,004 103,234 

Transfers 691 (3,628) 3,803 1,109 (1,975) - 

Additions 271 21 87 3,229 4,657 8,265 

Disposals (1,096) - - (2,128) - (3,224) 

At 31 December 
2023 

3,481 5,929 13,845 80,334 4,686 108,275 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

      

At 1 January 2023 3,483 5,448 8,760 55,068 - 72,759 

Charge for year 130 86 894 6,498 - 7,608 

Disposals (971) - - (1,951) - (2,922) 

At 31 December 
2023 

2,642 5,534 9,654 59,615 - 77,445 

Net book value       

At 31 December 
2023 

839 395 4,191 20,719 4,686 30,830 

At 31 December 
2022 

132 4,088 1,195 23,056 2,004 30,475 

Included within freehold land and buildings is £150,000 (2022: £150,000) of land which is not depreciated. 
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14 Right-of-use assets 

 
Right-of-Use 

Premises 
£’000 

Right-of-Use 
Motor    

Vehicles 
£’000 

Right-of-Use 
Machinery 

£’000 

Right-of-Use 
Other 
£’000 

 

Total 
£’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2023 12,534 726 147 551 13,958 

Additions - 72 10 - 82 

Transfers - - 451 (451) - 

Disposals (3,846) (726) (103) (100) (4,775) 

At 31 December 
2023 

8,688 72 505 - 9,265 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

     

At 1 January 2023 6,143 721 115 207 7,186 

Charge for year 1,231 9 103 - 1,343 

Other movements (536) - (81) 80 (537) 

Transfers - - 187 (187) - 

Disposals (3,846) (726) (103) (100) (4,775) 

At 31 December 
2023 

2,992 4 221 - 3,217 

Net book value      

At 31 December 
2023 

5,696 68 284 - 6,048 

At 31 December 
2022 

6,391 5 32 344 6,772 

 

Building leases are negotiated for an average term of 20 years and vehicle leases for an average term of 4 years.  
Building rental costs are usually either fixed for the term or subject to a rent review every 5 years.  Break clause 
options exist on many of the building leases, subject to 6 to 12 month’s written notice. 
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14 Right-of-use assets (continued) 

 

Amounts recognised in the income statement 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,343 1,680 

Impairment of right-of-use assets - - 

Interest expense for lease liabilities 198 238 

Costs attributable to short-term leases - 13 

Costs attributable to low-value leases 17 2 

Total amounts reported in the income statement 1,473 1,933 

 
Payments made during 2023 amounted to £1,479,000 (2022: £1,870,000) in relation to lease liabilities. 
 
During 2023 the costs relating to short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) amounted to £- (2022: 
£13,046) and leases for which the underlying asset has a low value (<USD 5,000) amounted to £17,301 (2022: 
£2,043). 
 
 
 
 

15 Inventories 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Spares and consumables 214 295 

There is no significant difference between the replacement cost of spares and consumables and their carrying 
amounts. 

Inventories are stated after provisions for impairment of £- (2022: £-). 

A total charge of £524,454 (2022: £525,609) has been recognised during the year relating to sacks and 
£3,046,000 (2022: £3,219,460) relating to bulk fuel purchases. 
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16 Debtors 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Trade receivables 18,254 15,707 

Amounts owed by parent company 391 248 

Amounts owed by group undertakings 2,347 2,799 

Other receivables 489 456 

Prepayments 3,023 1,170 

Other receivables due after one year 231 229 

 24,735 20,609 

 
Amounts owed by group undertakings and by parent company are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of 
repayment and are repayable on demand.  
 
Amounts owed by parent company relate to costs recharged for employees performing work on behalf of Loomis 
AB, the ultimate parent.  The recharges are applied at a mark-up rate consistent with the signed transfer pricing 
agreement between both parties. 
 
Amounts owed by group undertakings includes £403,292 recharged for employees performing work on behalf of 
various other Loomis entities.  The recharges are applied at a mark-up rate consistent with the signed transfer 
pricing agreement between both parties.  Also included is an amount of £1,867,948 for trading losses surrendered 
for group tax relief.  

Trade receivables are stated after provisions for impairment of £573,000 (2022: £289,000). 

Trade and other receivables include £231,000 (2022: £229,000) due after more than one year. 
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17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Trade creditors 1,982 2,042 

Amounts owed to parent company (note 19) 16,645 19,464 

Amounts owed to group undertakings 186 217 

Corporation tax - - 

Other taxation and social security 2,396 2,508 

Other creditors 1,729 2,716 

Provisions for liabilities (note 21) 998 1,103 

Accruals  4,031 5,292 

Deferred income 1,583 510 

Current finance lease obligations (note 20) 411 - 

Interest bearing current lease liabilities 711 1,112 

 30,672 34,964 

£104,000 of amounts owed to parent company are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and 
are repayable on demand (2022: £87,000).   

£186,000 of amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment 
and are repayable on demand (2022: £16,000).   

£16,541,000 (2022: £19,377,000) of amounts owed to parent company are unsecured, accrue interest at 10.26% 
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 5.46%), have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.  The 
average interest rate during the year was 9.66% (2022: 2.43%).   

Other creditors amount of £1,729,000 (2022: £2,716,000) includes accruals for employee related expenses, 
provisions for thefts, losses and shortages and funds held in lien relating to customers whose accounts are in 
default. 

 

 

18 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

 2023 
£’000 

2022 
£’000 

Amounts owed to parent company (note 19) 10,000 10,000 

       10,000 10,000 

£10,000,000 of amounts owed to parent company are unsecured and accrue interest at 11.158% (2022: 2.54%).  
These amounts are repayable on 01 December 2026. 
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19 Loans and other borrowings 

 2022 
£’000 

2022 
£’000 

Amounts owed to parent company 26,541 29,377 

Interest bearing lease liabilities 9,066 7,169 

 35,607 36,546 

The amounts owed to parent company includes an unsecured overdraft amount of £16,541,000 (2022: 
£19,377,000) which accrues interest at 10.26% if utilised (2022: 5.46%) and is repayable immediately upon 
demand. 

£10,000,000 of amounts owed to parent company are unsecured and accrue interest at 11.158% (2022: 2.54%). 
These amounts are repayable on 01 December 2026.   

 

Amounts payable under leases 

 2023 
£’000 

2022 
£’000 

Expiring within one year 1,122 1,112 

Expiring after one year 7,944 6,057 

 9,066 7,169 

 

Undiscounted amounts payable under leases 

 2023 
£’000 

2022 
£’000 

Expiring within one year 1,299 1,312 

Expiring after one year 9,487 16,615 

 10,786 17,927 

 
 

20 Finance lease obligations 
 
During the year, Loomis UK Limited entered into two finance leases for the funding of the new fleet vehicle 
investment.  Full unencumbered title and ownership to the goods passed to the finance provider on payment of 
the net price of the vehicles to Loomis UK Limited.  

Both loan tranches are for a period of 6 years.  Tranche 1 was for £1,366,559 at an interest rate of 6.93% and 
tranche 2 was for £1,487,401 at an interest rate of 6.11%. 
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20 Finance lease obligations (continued) 

Amounts payable under leases 

 2023 
£’000 

2022 
£’000 

Due within one year (note 17) 411 1,112 

Due after one year (Non-current finance lease obligations) 2,314 6,057 

 2,725 7,169 

 
 
21 Provisions for liabilities 

 

Dilapidations 
provision        

£’000 

Reorganisation 
provision        

£’000          

BPO expenses 
provision        

£’000          

Total        
provision        

£’000 

At 1 January 2023 1,432 85 486 2,003 

Charged to profit or loss (41) 423 - 382 

Increase due to unwinding 
of discount 

97 - - 97 

Decrease due to change in 
discount factor 

(26) - - (26) 

Utilised (22) (480) - (502) 

At 31 December 2023 1,440 28 486 1,954 

 
 

 

Dilapidations 
provision        

£’000 

Reorganisation 
provision        

£’000          

BPO expenses 
provision        

£’000          

Total            
provision    

£’000 

Amounts falling due 
within one year  

970 28 - 998 

Amounts falling due after 
one year 

470 - 486 956 

At 31 December 2023 1,440 28 486 1,954 

 

Of the £1,954,000 total provisions for liabilities, £998,000 is expected to be utilised within one year and is shown 
under Note 17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year.  The remaining £956,000 is expected to be utilised 
after one year and is shown as provisions for liabilities (£956,000) on the statement of financial position. 
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21 Provisions for liabilities (continued) 

Dilapidations provision 

The provision reflects the dilapidation repair costs to be incurred where applicable.  The dilapidations element is 
based on the discounted value of future net cash outflows to restore all leased properties in accordance with the 
lease.  The discount factor used is 4.384% (2022: 3.53%).  The discount will unwind over the life of the lease.  
The company expects the provision to be utilised as follows: Within 1 year £970,000 (2022: £1,018,000), between 
1 and 5 years £342,000 (2022: £240,000) and over 5 years £128,000 (2022: £174,000). 

Reorganisation provision 

The provision reflects an amount included for potential employment litigation claims and the remaining unutilised 
restructure provision created during the year. The company expects all £28,000 of the provision to be utilised 
within 1 year.   

BPO expenses provision 

The £486,000 relates to costs associating with the BPO offering for the defined benefit pension scheme and is 
expected to be utilised after 1 year.  During 2020 a Bridging Pension Option (BPO) was offered to members of 
the pension scheme.  The BPO gave members of the scheme the option of receiving a temporary pension from 
their retirement date until they reach state pension age.  In return they are to receive a lower whole-of-life pension. 

 

22 Deferred tax liabilities 
 

Deferred tax liability            2023  
£’000 

         2022  
£’000 

At 1 January    (541) 2,351 

Tax charge in the profit and loss (note 11)   (371) (2,888) 

Tax on other comprehensive (expense)/income   348 (4) 

At 31 December   (564) (541) 

 

 

Deferred tax 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Retirement benefit obligation (3,534) (3,669) 

Fixed asset timing differences 282 677 

Other timing differences 518 574 

Lease obligation differences 56 70 

Non-trade loan relationship debits 641 157 

Trading losses 1,473 1,650 

Deferred tax liability (564) (541) 
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22 Deferred tax liabilities (continued) 

Deferred taxation has been calculated at a rate of 25% (2022: 25%). 
 
The deferred tax liability is driven by the defined benefit pension scheme asset value.  The asset value is updated 
annually with data derived from the IAS19 report provided by the Company’s actuaries. 
 
The fixed asset timing differences are measured on temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax 
base of the assets.  It is assumed that all fixed asset additions during the year will qualify for capital allowances 
and that maximum capital allowances will be claimed.   

 

23 Called up share capital 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Allotted, called-up and fully paid   

40,010 (2022:40,010) ordinary shares of £100 each 4,001 4,001 

40,000 (2022: 40,000) redeemable shares of £100 each 4,000 4,000 

124,420 (2022: 124,420) redeemable preference shares of £100 each 12,442 12,442 

 20,443 20,443 

Ordinary share rights 

The company’s ordinary shares, which carry no right to fixed income, each carry the right to one vote at general 
meetings of the company. 

On 29 June 2023, Loomis UK Limited issued 40,169 £100 ordinary shares to its parent company Loomis Holding 
UK Limited at a premium of £86.71 per share.   The total funds raised from the issuance was £7,499,954. 

On 3 July 2023 the new shares issued were subject to a capital reduction exercise for the same value of 
£7,499,954, which was credited to profit and loss reserves. 

Preference share rights 

The redeemable shares and redeemable preference shares are redeemable at the option of the company, subject 
to the provisions of the Companies Act, at any date as the directors shall determine at par value, after giving not 
less than 20 days nor more than 60 days prior notice of the redemption date and the aggregate number of shares 
to be redeemed. 

The redeemable preference shares carry a zero coupon but are entitled to such other dividends as the holders of 
the ordinary shares may determine.  On a return of capital or liquidation or otherwise the assets of the company 
available for distribution among the members shall be applied first in repaying the holders of the redeemable 
preference shares then in issue the amounts paid up on such shares.  The redeemable preference shares will not 
entitle the holders thereof to any further or other right of participation in the assets of the company. In other 
respects the redeemable shares hold the same rights as the ordinary shares. 

The redeemable preference shares do not carry any premium payable on redemption.  There are 124,420 
redeemable preference shares authorised for issue. 
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24  Pension schemes 

A funded defined benefit scheme is operated for the benefit of employees within the Loomis UK Limited group of 
companies, with contributions in respect of scheme funding being advised by the Scheme Actuary Isio Group 
Limited. The assets of the scheme are held in a separately administered fund. The final salary plan was closed to 
new members from 1 October 2001 and a money purchase section (“Retirement Investment Fund”) established 
for new employees. 

Paragraph 58 of IAS19 limits the measurement of a defined pension plan asset to “the present value of 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions from the  
plan”. In July 2007, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRIC14, its interpretation of 
the following issues: 
 
• When refunds or reductions in contributions should be regarded as available; 
• How a “minimum funding requirement” might affect the availability of reductions in future contributions; and 
• When a “minimum funding requirement” might give rise to a liability. 
 
IFRIC14 can have significant implications for UK companies accounting under IFRS, potentially restricting 
balance sheet assets or requiring additional liabilities to be recognised. IFRIC14 applies with mandatory force  
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. In line with the approach taken in previous periods, no IFRIC 
14 adjustment has been made to restrict the assets. 
 
Loomis UK Limited’s ultimate parent company Loomis AB provide a guarantee in respect of the plan that was 
most recently updated on 25 May 2018.  There are no other shared risks between Loomis UK Limited and 

Loomis Group in relation to the defined benefit plan.   
During 2020, a Bridging Pension Option was introduced for deferred members of the defined benefit scheme, 
which led to the recognition of a past service credit of £3.8 million in the Company’s income statement.  

 
An at-retirement Pension Increase Exchange Option was introduced in 2023 for deferred members of the 
defined benefit scheme. This has led to a recognition of a past service credit in the 31 December 2023 
Company’s income statement.  

 
The risks of the scheme are as follows: 

(a) Asset volatility 

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. The Scheme investment strategy provides a natural hedge against 
the scheme liabilities. 

As the plan matures, the company intends to continue to look for both tactical and strategic opportunities to reduce 
the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities and also exploring liability 
management exercises. 

 (b) Changes in bond yields 

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase 
in the value of the plan’s bond holdings. 

(c) Life expectancy 

The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life 
expectancy will result in an increase in the plan’s liabilities. 

(d) Inflation risk 

The pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most 
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The 
majority of the plan’s assets are either unaffected by (fixed interest bonds) or loosely correlated with (equities) 
inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit, as the assets will remain unchanged 
whereas the liabilities will increase. 

The latest triennial actuarial valuation at 5 April 2020, produced by Hymans Robertson LLP, was signed off the 
company and trustees on 30 June 2021. This included a deficit of £7.6m on a technical provisions’ basis. A revised 
recovery plan was agreed, which runs from 1 November 2023 until 29 February 2028 (which replaced the previous 
recovery plan dated 31 December 2022) and was signed off in November 2023. The recovery plan  
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24 Pension schemes (continued) 

specified that deficit funding contributions would re-commence from 1 January 2025 with total contributions of 
£3.75m per annum in 2025 and continuing until 29 February 2028. As part of the 2023 triennial valuation, the 
Company and the Trustees are currently in the process of agreeing a new Funding Deed, which would mean that 
the contributions of £3.75m per annum would not be paid.  

The benefit obligation has been based on the draft valuation results at 5 April 2023. This has been updated to 31 
December 2023 by Isio Group Limited, a qualified independent actuary, for company accounting purposes. The 
2023 triennial actuarial valuation will be signed off within the 2024 financial year.  

The parent company guarantee, provided by Loomis AB, continues to be in place. The duration of the Scheme is 
around 13-14 years.  

The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms): 

 

 2023 
% 

2022 
% 

 Main actuarial assumptions   

   Rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.65 2.62 

Discount rate 4.50 4.75 

 CPI Inflation assumption 2.70 2.70 

 

The life expectancy for the mortality tables used to determine the benefit obligations at 31 December 2023 are: 

 2023 2022 

Male members age 65 (current life expectancy) 19.10 19.50 

Male members age 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 20.30 20.80 

Female members age 65 (current life expectancy) 22.10 22.50 

Female members age 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 24.40 24.80 

 

The mortality assumptions used for the 2020 triennial actuarial valuation of the Loomis UK pension liabilities were 
based on the SAPS S2 base tables, adjusted to reflect the Scheme’s own best-estimate mortality characteristics. 
This has been carried through to the IAS19 valuation. An allowance has then been made for anticipated future 
improvements in life expectancies by applying the CMI 2022 model for future improvements with a long-term 
improvement rate of 1% p.a. and core parameters for the smoothing factor (7) and w parameters of 10% above 
the core.  

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities: 
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24 Pension schemes (continued) 

Reconciliation of benefit obligation 

 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Benefit obligation at 1 January 106,825 162,409 

Past service (credit)/cost (500) - 

Interest cost 4,930 2,955 

Benefits paid  (5,143) (5,366) 

Experience loss 2,333 8,047 

Actuarial loss/(gain) – financial assumptions 4,396 (59,723) 

Actuarial (gain)/loss – demographic assumptions (5,093) (1,497) 

Benefit obligation at 31 December 107,748 106,825 

 

Reconciliation of plan assets 

 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 121,500 177,160 

Interest income 5,642 3,225 

Expenses paid (360) (360) 

Employer contributions - - 

Benefits paid (5,143) (5,366) 

Return on plan assets 243 (53,159) 

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 121,882 121,500 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is: 

 

 Impact on defined benefit obligation 

 Change in  
assumption 

Increase in defined 
benefit obligation 

Decrease in defined 
benefit obligation 

Discount rate +/- 0.1% -1.2% +1.2% 

Inflation rate +/- 0.1% +0.7% -0.7% 

Life expectancy 1 year increase/(decrease) +3.9% -3.9% 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When 
calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method 
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the  
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24 Pension schemes (continued) 

reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the statement of 
financial position. 

The impact of the change in sensitivities is broadly linear and therefore the magnitude of changes can be 
computed from the above. 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the 
previous year. 

 

Defined benefit scheme regular income recognised in profit or loss: 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Interest income (712) (270) 

 (712) (270) 

 

Expenditure/(income) recognised in the income statement 

 

2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Defined benefit scheme finance income (712) (270) 

Past service credit net of associated expenses (500) - 

Scheme administration costs 360 360 

Total defined benefit pension scheme (income)/cost (852) 90 

Defined contribution scheme contributions 1,567 2,112 

Total pension costs 715 2,202 

*The company expects to contribute £- to the Scheme funding during 2024 (with additional contributions being 
required in respect of expenses). 

 

 

Fair value of the plan assets was: 2023 

£'000 

2022 

£'000 

Bonds 69,977 68,041 

Cash 1,133 2,088 

Other 50,772 51,371 

Total fair value of plan assets 121,882 121,500 

Benefit obligation (107,748) (106,825) 

Fair value of plan surplus at 31 December 14,134 14,675 
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24 Pension schemes (continued) 

Scheme assets do not include any of the company’s own financial instruments or any property occupied by the 
company. 

The actual gain on the plan assets was: £5,885,000 (2022: loss of £49,934,000). 

An amount of £233,000 (2022: £-) is included in creditors, which represents outstanding contributions to the 
defined contribution schemes.  There are expected to be £- contributions to the defined benefit scheme for the 
coming financial year. 

The pension scheme surplus is recognised on the basis that the scheme’s trust deed and rules provide the 
company with an unconditional right to realise the surplus arising in the Scheme. 

    

25 Capital commitments 

 2023 

£’000 

2022 

£’000 

Contracted but not provided:   

- Property, Plant & Equipment 2,290 468 

- Intangible assets (Software) 51 51 

Total capital commitments 2,341 519 

 

 

26 Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party 

The immediate parent company is Loomis Holding UK Limited, a UK registered company, and the ultimate parent 
undertaking is Loomis AB, a company registered in Sweden. Loomis AB is the ultimate controlling party of the 
company. 

The largest and smallest group in which the financial statements of the company are consolidated is Loomis AB, 
the address of which is disclosed below.  

Copies of Loomis AB consolidated financial statements may be obtained from: 
Loomis AB 
P.O. Box 702 
SE-101 33 Stockholm 
Sweden. 
 
 

27 Post balance sheet events 

No post balance sheet events to report. 
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